IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 88,774

FILED MB J. WHITE
NOV 12 1996
CLERN SUPREME COURT
By Bierk

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

-vs-

BURT MARSHALL,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

FLEUR J. LOBREE Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0947090 Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 950 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-5441 fax 377-5655

INTRODUCTION

This is a petition for discretionary review of an opinion of the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District, (hereinafter "Third District"), denying a petition for writ of certiorari. Petitioner, THE STATE OF FLORIDA, was the prosecution in the trial court, Appellee in the Sixteenth Judicial Circuit Court of Florida and Petitioner in the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District. Respondent, BURT MARSHALL, was the defendant in the trial court, Appellant in the Sixteenth Judicial Circuit Court of Florida, and Respondent in the District Court of Appeal. The parties shall be referred to as they stand before this Court.

The symbol "T." designates the transcript of the trial court proceedings, the symbol "R." designates the record on appeal before this Court, and the symbol "App." followed by a letter designates exhibits contained in the appendix to the petition for writ of certiorari.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On March 15, 1995, Respondent, BURT MARSHALL, was involved in a motor cycle accident and arrested for driving under the influence (hereinafter "DUI"). (App. A). On April 4, 1995, Respondent was charged by information with DUI, in violation of § 316.193, Fla. Stat. (1995). (App. B). On September 20, 1995, Respondent proceeded to a trial by jury before the Honorable Reagan Ptomey, County Judge. (App. C).

Florida Highway Patrol Officer Pedro Cortes testified that he conducted arrived at the accident scene of the and an Trooper Cortes had Respondent perform investigation. (T. 2-3). roadside field sobriety tests and arrested him for DUI. (T. 2-3). Trooper Cortes testified that Respondent made admissions to him about drinking that night at the very beginning of his criminal investigation, a mere 10 minutes after Trooper Cortes first spoke to Respondent. (T. 46, 53). Counsel for Respondent objected and argued that Respondent's admissions to Trooper Cortes that he had been drinking that night were inadmissible under the accident report privilege. (T. 46, 54).

Trooper Cortes testified that at some point he advised Respondent that he was beginning a criminal investigation. (T. 53).

Trooper Cortes smelled a strong odor of an alcoholic beverage coming from Respondent's breath. He testified, "At the time, I asked [Respondent] if he had been drinking and his reply was, yes, he had been drinking. At that time, I told him he was going to perform some field sobriety tests for me and he admitted, he told me yes, he'll do them." (T. 53). Trooper Cortes then testified: "Okay. Well, I asked him to lift his leg six inches off the ground and look at his foot while he counts to 30, from one to 30. At that time [Respondent] started number 1, 2, 3, went up, then jumped to number 27, went back to 17, changed numbers around and he was lost. He couldn't keep his balance. He almost went to the floor, and if it wasn't for, Deputy Haynes had to hold him before he fell down." (T. 55). Respondent failed the roadside tests and was arrested. (T. 55). Respondent was transported to the Plantation Key Sheriff's Substation and taken to the DUI room, where he was videotaped. (T. 3, 56-57). Respondent refused to perform a breath test or additional field sobriety tests. (T. 3).

At the conclusion of trial, the jury returned a verdict of guilty of DUI, and Respondent was adjudicated guilty and sentenced to a term of twelve months probation, six month license suspension, and a fine of \$500.00 and court costs of \$500.00. (App. C; App. D;

App. E). On October 2, 1995, counsel for Respondent filed a timely notice of appeal. (App. F).

On March 29, 1996, the Circuit Court entered an order on appeal, finding that the trial court correctly denied Respondent's motion for judgment of acquittal but erred by admitting statements made by Respondent to a police officer where he had not been apprised of his <u>Miranda</u>¹ rights. (App. F). On April 1, 1996, the State filed a motion for reconsideration, arguing that the authorities upon which the Order on Appeal was based did not apply because they interpreted the pre-1991 version of § 316.066(4), Fla. Stat. (App. G). On April 22, 1996, the Circuit Court entered an order on the State's motion for reconsideration and again found that the statements were not admissible where Respondent was not informed of his constitutional rights. (App. H). The judgment and sentence of the trial court was therefore reversed, and the case was remanded for a new trial. (App. H).

On May 22, 1996, the State filed a petition for writ of certiorari in the Third District, again arguing that Respondent's statements to Trooper Cortes were not privileged and were properly admitted at trial. (R. 1-10). Petitioner maintained that Respondent

¹ <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u>, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966).

was not in custody at the time of his statements and that the 1991 amendment to the accident report privilege of § 316.066(4), Fla. Stat. rendered the voluntary statements he made to Trooper Cortes admissible. (R. 1-10). Petitioner relied upon the authority of <u>State v. Riley</u>, 617 So. 2d 340 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), and argued that the authorities relied upon by the Circuit Court did not control as they interpreted the pre-1991 version of § 316.066(4). (R. 1-10).

On June 14, 1996, Respondent filed a response to the petition for writ of certiorari. (R. 13-27). Following oral argument, on August 14, 1996, the Third District entered an opinion declining to follow <u>Riley</u> and denying certiorari. (R. 13-27). <u>State v.</u> <u>Marshall</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D1865 (Fla. 3d DCA June 14, 1996). On August 15, 1996, the State filed a notice invoking this Court's discretionary jurisdiction and a motion to stay the mandate of the District Court. (R. 39-42). On September 5, 1996, the Third District entered an order staying its mandate pending disposition of this case. (R. 44). This brief follows.

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER THE 1991 AMENDMENTS TO THE ACCIDENT REPORT PRIVILEGE OF CHAPTER 316, FLORIDA STATUTES, RENDERED RESPONDENT'S VOLUNTARY STATEMENTS TO AN OFFICER CONDUCTING A CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION ADMISSIBLE AT TRIAL, WHERE RESPONDENT WAS NOT READ HIS *MIRANDA* RIGHTS BUT WAS NOT IN CUSTODY?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondent made damaging admissions to the police at the scene of a routine traffic accident investigation prior to his arrest for He was not is custody or otherwise compelled to answer the DUI. officer's questions. Therefore, the trial court properly allowed the admission of these statements, even though the officer did not read Miranda warnings. The 1991 amendments to the accident report privilege of Chapter 316, Florida Statutes, did not act to merely codify the fact that a defendant may waive the accident report privilege, like the privilege against self-incrimination, after being apprised of his constitutional rights. Rather, the privilege was amended to confirm that a driver involved in an accident has no statutory duty to give a statement or any information to an officer which may be self-incriminating. As an officer may question a driver following a traffic stop or other temporary investigative detention without first reading Miranda warnings, his questioning of a driver at an accident scene should not be sufficient, standing alone, to constitute custodial interrogation. Because Respondent was not in custody at the time he made the statements at issue herein, the lower courts erred by determining that they should be excluded pursuant to the accident report privilege.

ARGUMENT

THE 1991 AMENDMENTS TO THE ACCIDENT REPORT PRIVILEGE OF CHAPTER 316, FLORIDA STATUTES, RENDERED RESPONDENT'S VOLUNTARY STATEMENTS TO AN OFFICER CONDUCTING A CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION ADMISSIBLE AT TRIAL, WHERE HE WAS NOT READ HIS MIRANDA RIGHTS BUT WAS NOT IN CUSTODY.

Respondent's statements to Trooper Cortes prior to his arrest were not privileged and therefore the lower courts erred by finding that the trial court erroneously permitted Trooper Cortes to recount those statements for the jury. Respondent's damaging admissions did not fall within the scope of statements protected by either the accident report privilege or the privilege against selfincrimination under the United States and Florida Constitutions, because Respondent was not compelled to speak or in custody at the time he made the admissions.

Respondent argued below that his admissions to Trooper Cortes that he had been drinking that night were inadmissible under the accident report privilege of § 316.066(4), Fla. Stat. (1995). (T. 46, 54). However, the accident report privilege protects a defendant from having <u>compelled</u> statements made during an accident investigation from being introduced against him at trial. <u>State v.</u> <u>Riley</u>, 617 So. 2d 340, 342 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) (quoting <u>Brackin v.</u> <u>Boles</u>, 452 So. 2d 540, 544 (Fla. 1984)). The statements made by

Respondent in this case were not compelled as he was not told that he had to answer the officer's questions and he was not in custody during the brief roadside investigation.

The accident report privilege is codified at § 316.066(4), Fla. Stat. (1995), which states:

> Except as specified in this subsection, each accident report made by a person involved in an accident and any statement made by such person to a law enforcement officer for the purpose of completing an accident report required by this section shall be without prejudice to the individual so reporting. No such report shall be used as evidence in a trial, civil or criminal. However, subject to applicable rules of evidence, a law the enforcement officer in a criminal trial may testify to any statement made to the officer by the person involved in the accident if that person's privilege against self-incrimination is not violated.

(emphasis added). The 1991 amendment to this section, which added the italicized language above, was effected by ch. 91-255, § 14, Laws of Florida. The same session law also added subsection (3) to section 316.062, Fla. Stat.:

> The statutory duty of a person to make a information give to а law report or enforcement officer making a written report relating to an accident shall not be construed extending to information which would as violate the privilege of such person against self-incrimination.

ch. 91-255, § 13, Laws of Florida.

These amendments were later explained in <u>Riley</u>:

Pursuant to the 1991 amendments, no driver is now compelled by statutory requirement to give incriminating information to a law enforcement officer investigating a traffic accident. An officer may now testify to statements that are voluntarily made by a driver and that have not been obtained in violation of Fifth Amendment protections.... The driver who is under investigation, but not in custody so as to trigger rights pursuant to Miranda, now has the same protection, no more and no less, as anyone else suspected of criminal activity. The Fifth Amendment is not of necessity implicated by roadside questioning of a driver by an officer following a traffic stop.

<u>Riley</u>, 617 So. 2d at 343 (citing <u>Berkemer v. McCarthy</u>, 468 U.S. 420, 104 S.Ct. 3138, 82 L.Ed.2d 317 (1984)).

While a trial court "must closely examine the facts in order to determine whether a driver's constitutional rights have been violated by custodial interrogation or otherwise," <u>Riley</u>, 617 So. 2d at 343, a defendant must bring forth evidence to demonstrate that the was subjected to any restraints comparable to those found in a formal arrest in order to establish a violation of his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination as well as his similar rights under Section 9 of the Florida Constitution. <u>Traylor v.</u> <u>State</u>, 596 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1992); <u>State v. Burns</u>, 661 So. 2d 842, 844-845 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), <u>rev. dismissed</u> 676 So. 2d 1366 (Fla.

1996).² Examples of such evidence include the duration of the stop, whether the location of the stop was a public or private area, the number of officers present, and the relative complexity of the field sobriety tests. <u>Id.</u> at 844.

At a normal traffic accident investigation it is not unusual for the police work to take one half an hour or, under some circumstances, several hours. An accident investigation, depending on the individual circumstances, may involve anywhere from one officer to several officers or several police agencies. The vast majority of accident investigations never result in a formal arrest. In fact, in 1994 in Florida there were 325,232 drivers involved in crashes, compared to 24,987 alcohol-related crashes. <u>Traffic Crash Facts, 1994</u>, DHSMV, July 1995 DHSMV printshop. There were 62,152 drivers arrested for DUI during that same period of time, however, the vast majority were not involved in a crash. <u>Uniform Citation Statistical Report</u>, p. 63, DHSMV Division of Driver's License, Bureau of Records, June 1995. Therefore, a

² This Court has defined custody under the Florida Constitution almost identically to the federal definition. <u>Traylor</u>, 596 So. 2d 957, 987 n.16 (Fla. 1992) (referring to an "actual" arrest rather than a "formal" arrest); <u>see also Allred v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 984, 987 (Fla. 1994).

routine accident investigation, in and of itself, should not be deemed the equivalent of "custody" or an arrest.

At trial in the instant case, Respondent produced no evidence that would indicate that he was in custody during the accident investigation at the time he answered questions or performed roadside tests. In fact, Respondent made admissions about drinking that night to Trooper Cortes, the only officer at the scene, at the very beginning of the criminal investigation, a mere ten minutes after Trooper Cortes first spoke to him. (T. 46, 53). Furthermore, the record is devoid of any evidence which would indicate that Respondent was subject to any greater restraints than those imposed on a typical DUI suspect, as Trooper Cortes was the only officer who spoke to him at the scene during the routine accident investigation.

Because Respondent produced no evidence to demonstrate that his "freedom of action [was] curtailed to a 'degree associated with formal arrest,'" when he was asked whether he had been drinking, he was not entitled to <u>Miranda</u> warnings. <u>See Burns</u>, 661 So. 2d at 845 (quoting <u>Berkemer</u>, 468 U.S. at 440, 104 S.Ct. at 3150, quoting <u>California v. Beheler</u>, 463 U.S. 1121, 1125, 103 S.Ct. 3517, 3520, 77 L.Ed.2d 1275, 1279 (1983)). Accordingly, Respondent's admission that he had been drinking alcohol that night before the accident

was not privileged and thus was properly admitted along with any other statements Respondent made at the scene that night. <u>Burns</u>, 661 So. 2d at 845.

Similar analysis applies to Respondent's contention that his counting out loud as a part of a particular field sobriety test was allegedly conducted in violation of his rights under <u>Miranda</u>. Since Respondent was not in custody at the time he performed the field sobriety tests and because he produced no evidence to show that he was subject to any greater restraints than those imposed on a typical DUI suspect, he was not entitled to <u>Miranda</u> warnings and his statements were admissible against him. Moreover, this Court's holding in <u>State v. Allred</u> provided no assistance to Respondent because that case, unlike the case at issue, clearly involved the statements of a person who had already been arrested. <u>Allred</u>, 622 So. 2d 984, 987 (Fla. 1993).

The authorities relied upon by the lower courts in their orders on appeal, <u>State v. Norstrom</u>, 613 So. 2d 437 (Fla. 1993) and <u>State v. Shepard</u>, 658 So. 2d 611 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995), do not directly address the issue raised in this case because neither decision interpreted the amended version of the accident report privilege statute. Although the decision in <u>Norstrom</u> was rendered in 1993, it involved an accident that occurred on March 25, 1988.

Norstrom, 613 So. 2d at 438. Accordingly, in Norstrom, this Court dealt with the pre-1991 version of section 316.066(4). <u>Riley</u>, 617 So. 2d at 343. In fact, this Court's quotation of what it termed the "pertinent part of section 316.066" did not include the abovequoted language which was added by the legislature in 1991. Norstrom, 613 So. 2d at 439-440.

While it is conceded that <u>Norstrom</u> may be controlling authority with respect to the pre-1991 version of the accident report privilege, the Court's decision did not interpret the 1991 amendments to § 316.066(4), Fla. Stat., and therefore should not be controlling authority with respect to any case involving questioning during an accident investigation that has taken place after the effective date of the amendment. Since the events that brought forth the instant case took place close to four years after the statute was amended, <u>Norstrom</u> should not control the outcome here.

Similarly, the <u>Shepard</u> decision also did not discuss the effects of the 1991 amendments to the accident report privilege. In <u>Shepard</u>, the Second District relied on its prior decision in <u>Perez v. State</u>, 630 So. 2d 1231 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994), in affirming the trial court's suppression of a DUI defendant's statements to an officer during an accident investigation. <u>Shepard</u>, 658 So. 2d at

612. While the <u>Shepard</u> decision never identified which version of the statute that it was applying, the Court specifically relied on <u>Perez</u> -- and only <u>Perez</u> -- as the legal authority for its conclusion that the operative event for determining the applicability of the accident report privilege was the giving of <u>Miranda</u> warnings. <u>Shepard</u>, 658 So. 2d at 612.

The <u>Shepard</u> court's reliance on <u>Perez</u> is significant since the Perez Court specifically relied on the pre-1991 version of § 316.066(4), Fla. Stat. in reaching their decision. Although Perez cites to the 1991 version of § 316.066(4), Fla. Stat., the decision quotes the text of the section without referring to the italicized language above which was added to the section by ch. 91-255, Laws of Fla. Perez, 630 So. 2d at 1231, n.2. Moreover, it is clear that the Perez court (and consequently the Shepard court), did not consider the amended version of § 316.066(4), Fla. Stat., as Perez stated that the "accident report privilege confers confidentiality upon any admission a driver makes in compliance with the statutory duty to report that which occurred in the accident." Perez, 630 So. 2d at 1332 (emphasis added) (citing Brackin v. Boles, 452 So. 2d 540 (Fla. 1984)). As such, the Third District erred in this case by declining to follow Riley, and instead applying the analyses of Shepard and Norstrom.

Because of the 1991 amendment, "an officer may now testify to statements that are voluntarily made by a driver and that have not been obtained in violation of Fifth Amendment protections." <u>Riley</u>, 617 So. 2d at 343. It is clear from the dicta in <u>Perez</u> quoted above that the Second District did not acknowledge the 1991 amendment to § 316.066(4), Fla. Stat. which, as explained in <u>Riley</u>, effectively eliminated the accident report privilege in criminal cases provided that the defendant's 5th Amendment rights against self-incrimination are not violated. <u>Riley</u>, 617 So. 2d at 343; <u>see</u> <u>also</u> Erhardt, Florida Evidence § 501.2 at p. 238 (1996 Edition).

In deciding to deny certiorari in this case, the Third District noted that this Court in <u>Norstrom</u> "reasoned that the sole purpose of the accident report privilege is to protect the privilege against self-incrimination." <u>State v. Marshall</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D1865 (Fla. 3d DCA June 14, 1996). The court therefore determined that the legislature amended § 316.066(4) to create a limited exception to the accident report privilege in criminal cases ala <u>Norstrom</u>, where a defendant clearly waives his Fifth Amendment privilege. <u>Id.</u> at D1866. This position is not supported by the legislative history, including the staff analysis of H.B. 91-255.

The State acknowledges that key guestion at issue in this case, in light of both Norstrom and the 1991 amendments to § 316.062(3) and 316.066(4), Fla. Stat., is whether Respondent's statements were obtained in violation of his Fifth Amendment rights against self-incrimination. However, the State insists that in answering this question, it is important to note that "the Fifth Amendment is not of necessity implicated by roadside questioning of a driver by an officer following a traffic stop." Riley, 617 So. 2d at 343 (quoting Berkemer v. McCarthy, 468 U.S. 420, 104 S.Ct. 3138, 82 L.Ed.2d 317 (1984). Moreover, "Miranda warnings are required only when a defendant is subjected to custodial interrogation." State v. Burns, 661 So. 2d at 844 (citing Roberts v. United States, 445 U.S. 552, 560, 100 S. Ct. 1358, 1364, 63 L.Ed.2d 622 (1980); Arbalaez v. State, 626 So. 2d 169 (Fla. 1993); and Travlor v. State, 596 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1992)).

The mere investigation of a crash scene or a preliminary noncustodial criminal investigation does not, in and of itself, establish "custody" even though a suspect may be temporarily and reasonably detained at the crash site prior to being taken into custody. The United States Supreme Court has disapproved "any general proposition that custody exists whenever motorists think that their freedom of action has been restricted, for such a

rational would eviscerate <u>Berkemer</u> altogether." <u>Pennsylvania v.</u> <u>Brurder</u>, 488 U.S. 9, 109 S.Ct. 205, 207 n.2 (1988). This Court has even held that a person is not in "custody" for <u>Miranda</u> purposes when his person is temporarily seized pursuant to a search warrant to seize blood and saliva samples. <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 630 So. 2d 1038 (Fla. 1993).

"The relevant question is how a reasonable man in the suspect's position would have understood his situation." <u>Casso v.</u> <u>State</u>, 524 So. 2d 422, 423 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 488 U.S. 870, 109 S.Ct. 178 (1988). In this case, there was no showing that Respondent "reasonably believed that his freedom of action was 'curtailed to a degree associated with formal actual arrest.'" when he made the statements to Trooper Cortes which he claims were privileged. <u>See Burns</u>, 661 So. 2d at 844. Nor did Respondent "bring forth any evidence that he was subjected to any restraints comparable to those found in a formal arrest" at the time he made those statements. <u>Id</u>.

Unless this Court finds that Respondent was "in custody to the degree associated with actual or formal arrest," the statements made were properly deemed admissible at his criminal trial through the testimony of Officer Cortes, because the 1991 amendments clearly limited the accident report privilege for that purpose. A

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