## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.:88,774

FILED SID J. WHITE JAN 9 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

**Chief Deputy Clerk** 

By\_

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner, -vs-

BURT MARSHALL,

Respondent.

#### ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA THIRD DISTRICT

#### AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

Laurie D. Hall 171 Hood Avenue, Suite #23 Post Office Box 1126 Tavernier, Florida 33070 (305) 852-9959 Attorney for Respondent Florida Bar No. 843954

##

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The 1991 Amendments to Fla. Stat. 316.066(4) did not eliminate the requirement that <u>Miranda</u> warnings be given to the driver at the commencement of the criminal investigation of the accident. <u>State</u> <u>v. Marshall</u> 21 Fla. L. Weekly D1865 (Fla. 3rd DCA August 14).

This rationale is consistent with the Second District Court's decision in <u>State v. Shepard</u>, 658 So.2d 611 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1995) and this Court's decision in <u>State v. Norstrom</u>, 613 So.2d 437 (Fla. 1993), and the opposite of the State's position and the First District court's decision in <u>State v. Riley</u>, 617 So.2d 340 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993).

Further, testimonial statements made during the field sobriety tests, were not admissible where the defendant was not given <u>Miranda</u> warnings, and the defendant was told to perform. <u>Allred v. State</u>, 622 So.2d 984 (Fla. 1993); <u>State v. Shepard</u>, 658

So.2d 611 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1995).

#### ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE 1991 AMENDMENTS TO SECTION 316.066(4) FLORIDA STATUTES, THE "ACCIDENT REPORT PRIVILEGE" ELIMINATE THE REQUIREMENT THAT <u>MIRANDA</u> WARNINGS BE GIVEN TO A DRIVER ONCE A CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION BEGINS REGARDING THE ACCIDENT?

The trial court did err when it permitted the Trooper to testify about incriminating statements made by the Respondent after he had concluded the accident investigation and then "changed hats" and commenced the criminal investigation because the Respondent was not then informed of his <u>Miranda</u> rights.

The Circuit Court and the Third District correctly concluded that the trial court erred when those statements were admitted over the Respondent's objections.

The Third District in <u>State v. Marshall</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D1865 (Fla. 3rd DCA August 14, 1996) stated that the 1991 Amendment to Section 316.066(4), the accident report privilege, did not eliminate the requirement that <u>Miranda</u> warnings be given to the driver at the commencement of the criminal investigation of the accident.

Fla. Stat. 316.044(4) (1995) is commonly referred to as the accident report statute and it incorporated a provision prior to 1991 that was known as the accident report privilege. The statute was patterned after the Uniform Act Regulating Traffic on Highways by the National Conference on Commissions on Uniform State Laws. It was enacted to encourage drivers and those persons involved in

traffic accidents to speak freely without fear of self incrimination. See <u>State v. Norstrom</u>, 613 So.2d 437 (Fla. 1993); <u>Lobree v. Caporossi</u>, 139 So.2d 510 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1962).

Prior to the 1991 amendment Fla. Stat. 316.066(4) read:

"Except as specified in this subsection, each accident report made by a person involved in an accident and any statement made by such person to a law enforcement officer for the purpose of completing an accident report required by this section shall be without prejudice to the individual so reporting. No such report or statement shall be used as evidence in any trial, civil or criminal...."

In 1991, the legislature amended the statute to include the new wording:

However, subject to the applicable rules of evidence, a law enforcement officer at a criminal trial may testify as to any statement made to the officer by the person involved in the accident if that person's privilege against selfincrimination is not violated...."

This Court in <u>State v. Norstrom</u>, 613 So.2d 437,440-441 (Fla. 1993) interpreted the pre-1991 amendment to the accident report privilege to include the provision against self incrimination by stating:

> "....if any law enforcement officer gives any indication to a defendant that he or she must respond to questions concerning the investigation of an accident, there must be an express statement by the law enforcement official that 'this is now a criminal investigation', followed by <u>Miranda</u> warnings, before any statement by the defendant may be admitted."

According to <u>Norstrom</u>, once the criminal investigation begins, the Defendant is required to have <u>Miranda</u> warnings before his compelled statements will be admissible.

The Third District in <u>Marshall</u> recognized that there are certain exceptions to the requirement of <u>Miranda</u> warnings, and one such exception is the voluntary or spontaneous statement as in the case of <u>State v. Perez</u>, 630 So.2d 1231 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1994), where the Defendant upon exiting his car made an immediate statement in reference to an accident being his fault.

Another exception to the requirement of <u>Miranda</u> warnings, follows the <u>Norstrom</u> rationale, that if <u>Miranda</u> warnings are given to the defendant, and then the defendant makes incriminating statements, after the warnings, those statements are admissible, and the accident report privilege has been satisfied. <u>Marshall</u>.

However, what the State would have this Court adopt is the First District's interpretation of Fla Stat. 316.066(4), (1991), in State v. Riley, 617 So.2d 340 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). However Riley eviscerates the accident report privilege and "changing hats" so that it no longer applies in accident cases and eliminates the protection οf Fla. Stat. 316.066(4)(1995) against self incrimination during an accident investigation and subsequent criminal investigation. According to the State's argument there is no duty to give any additional information to an officer investigating a traffic accident other than that of name and age and date of birth.

In the present case, the Respondent was involved in a traffic accident. He was placed in the patrol car waiting for the appearance of the Florida Highway Patrol Trooper. When the Trooper arrived on the accident scene he spoke to the two witnesses first (TR-44) and then spoke to the Respondent for about ten minutes before beginning his criminal investigation. (TR-50-51). He had spoken to the Respondent and they had conversed as to the accident but then he "changed hats" and switched to the criminal investigation and did not warn the Respondent of his right against self incrimination, where before they had spoken freely.

But in following the State's argument, the driver should know that he can remain silent, at this stage. Any information deemed incriminating, the driver is not required to give, and should know that he is not required to provide that information. See <u>State v.</u> <u>Marshall</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D1865 (Fla. 3rd DCA August 14, 1996).

Then the question becomes what is considered incriminating or testimonial. In order for a statement to be testimonial, the accused's communication must itself explicitly or implicitly relate a factual assertion or disclose information. <u>Pennsylvania v. Muniz</u>, 496 U.S. 582, 110 S.Ct. 2638, 110 L.Ed.2d 528 (1990); <u>Allred v. State</u> 622 So.2d 984 (Fla. 1993). Clearly, the question posed by the Trooper, "have you been drinking?" was designed to elicit such a factual assertion and the Respondent's answer to the question "Have you been drinking" was incriminating. It was used against him to help establish guilt.

The State also argues that the Courts have likened the routine traffic stop (including accidents) to an investigatory stop pursuant to Fla. Stat. 901.151, the Stop and Frisk statute, where an officer encounters a person under circumstances which reasonably indicate that such a person has committed, is committing, or is about to commit a violation of the criminal laws of this state... he may temporarily detain the person to ascertain his identity and the circumstances surrounding his presence abroad. Since the detention is short, no <u>Miranda</u> warnings are necessary according to <u>State v. Taylor</u>, 648 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1995); <u>State v. Burns</u>, 661 So.2d 847 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995).

This was not merely a brief or routine traffic stop as in the case of <u>State v. Taylor</u>, 648 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1995) or <u>State v.</u> <u>Burns</u>, 661 So.2d 847 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), but an serious accident had occurred. The Respondent could not readily leave the scene because his motorcycle was hanging upside down in the mangroves. He was detained in the back seat of the Deputy's patrol car, waiting for the Florida Highway Patrol. Plus when the Trooper arrived he had to investigate the cause of the accident, speak to the witnesses, determine who was at fault, the speed, the conditions etc.

The position adopted by the Second District in <u>State v.</u> <u>Shepard</u>, 658 So.2d 611 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1995) and the Third District in <u>State v. Marshall</u> 21 Fla. L. Weekly D1865 (Fla. 3rd DCA August 14, 1996) is a much more reasonable approach to the accident report

privilege, when the <u>Miranda</u> warnings are required, and in line with this Court's opinion in <u>State v. Norstrom</u>, 613 So.2d 437 (Fla. 1993).

In <u>Shepard</u> the driver was involved in an accident and in response to questioning regarding the accident, by the deputy, she stated that, 'she was driving and had hit the person in the road.' She was then given <u>Miranda</u> warnings and told that the deputy was now conducting a criminal investigation for possible driving under the influence charges. She again repeated her statement and indicated that she had been drinking. Consequently, the Second District was faced with the question of what statements were admissible, and which ones were not, when <u>Miranda</u> warnings were given. The "operative event for the purposes of determining whether the statements are admissible is informing the defendant of his/her constitutional rights". The statements made after the <u>Miranda</u> warnings were admissible. <u>Shepard</u>.

In <u>Marshall</u>, the Third District stated that the legislature did not intend by its 1991 amendment to Fla. Stat. 316.066(4) to eliminate the requirement of <u>Miranda</u> warnings at the commencement of the criminal investigation regarding an accident.

The Trooper elicited further testimonial statements from the Respondent when he <u>told</u> him he was going to perform some field sobriety tests. (TR-53). The Respondent was not given a choice or advised of the consequences if he refused. (TR-53). The Trooper had him perform the counting and simultaneous leg lift sobriety tests

without the benefit of Miranda.

The Trooper testified "At that time Mr. Marshall started number 1, 2, 3, went up, then jumped to number 27, went back to 17, changed numbers around and he was lost." (TR-55).

No <u>Miranda</u> warnings are necessary according to <u>State v.</u> <u>Taylor</u>, 648 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1995) and <u>State v. Burns</u>, 661 So.2d 847 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), because the tests are short, painless and non invasive, and the stop itself is of a short duration.

Yet in <u>Allred v. State</u> 622 So.2d 984 (Fla. 1993) this Court held that incorrect testimonial statements made during the field sobriety tests are not admissible without prior <u>Miranda</u> warnings because they are incriminating, not just because of the delivery but because the content of the answers support an inference that the mental faculties are confused. <u>Allred</u>.

In the present case, the Respondent's compulsory counting did lead to incorrect testimonial responses that were used against him at trial.

In <u>State v. Shepard</u>, 658 So.2d 611 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1995), the Second District concluded that a driver's response to the alphabet and counting portions of a field sobriety test was testimonial in nature and requires <u>Miranda</u> warnings to be given before the statements can be used in evidence. The statements made during the field side sobriety tests in <u>Shepard</u> were admissible because the driver had received her <u>Miranda</u> warnings before the administration of the field sobriety tests.

In the present case the Respondent was not advised of his constitutional right against self incrimination until <u>after</u> he was arrested and transported to the police substation. Therefore, the statements that were elicited by the Trooper, and those made during his field sobriety tests were inadmissible. <u>Allred v. State</u> 622 So.2d 984 (Fla. 1993); <u>State v. Shepard</u>, 658 So.2d 611 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1995).

The State's final argument, is that the 1991 amendment to Fla. Stat. 316.062, which imposes a duty to give information and render aid after an accident, added the wording:

> "The statutory duty of a person to make a information report or give to а law enforcement officer making a written report relating to an accident should notbe construed as extending to information which would violate the privilege of such person against self incrimination." Sec. 316.062 (3); Ch 91-225, Sec. 13, Laws of Florida.

The additional wording in Fla. Stat. 316.062(3), according to the State, would also apply now to the 1991 amendment of Fla. Stat. 316.066(4). While there may be a duty to report an accident, there is not a duty to say anything when making the report. <u>Marshall</u>.

Yet this not a plausible argument. How would the driver make an accident report under Fla. Stat. 316.062, but remain silent. Or for that matter, how would the average driver know what would be considered incriminating, and when to remain silent. Under certain circumstances is required to give some biographical information, how does he differentiate what is incriminating. If the courts are in conflict over this issues, how can a driver understand when

he should speak and when he should remain silent. See Burns.

The reasonable conclusion is that the 1991 amendment to Fla. Stat. 316.062(3) does not apply to the 1991 amendment to 316.066(4). It applies solely to the duty to give information and render aid as set forth in Fla. Stat. 316.062. <u>State v. Marshall</u> 21 Fla. L. Weekly D1865 (Fla. 3rd DCA August 14, 1996).

In conclusion, the rational approach to the application of the 1991 amendment to section 316.066(4) would be that <u>Miranda</u> warnings are still required at the conclusion of the accident investigation and commencement of the criminal investigation. <u>Marshall</u> is a logical extension of the decisions in <u>State v. Norstrom</u>, 613 So.2d 437 (Fla. 1993) and <u>State v. Shepard</u>, 658 So.2d 611 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1995).

#### CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing reasons and authorities cited herein, Respondent respectfully submits that decision of the Third District Court be affirmed.